**S230568**

No.:

5  
SUPREME COURT  
FILED

NOV 13 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk  
Deputy

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY  
OF CALIFORNIA, etc., et al.,  
Petitioners,

vs.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR  
COURT,  
Respondent.

Court of Appeal,  
Second Appellate District, Division 7

No. B254959

Los Angeles County Superior Court

No. SC108504

KATHERINE ROSEN,  
Real Party in Interest

---

On Review of an Order Denying a Motion for Summary Judgment  
Honorable Gerald Rosenberg, Presiding

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Alan Charles Dell'Ario, SBN 60955  
ATTORNEY AT LAW  
1561 Third Street, Suite B  
Napa, California 94559

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Do California public institutions of higher education—the University of California, the California State University and the California Community Colleges—and their employees have a duty of care to their students while in the classroom to warn of and protect from foreseeable acts of violence by fellow students?



## WHY THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

California public colleges and universities enroll nearly three million students<sup>1</sup>—over eleven percent of all Californians ages 18 to 64.<sup>2</sup> But a “public university has no general duty to protect its students from the criminal attacks of other students,” holds the Court of Appeal majority.<sup>3</sup> This ruling affects every public college student. Neither they nor their families can rely on campus authorities to keep them safe from other students—no matter how foreseeable the violence, no matter where it occurs on campus, no matter what promises have been made for their safety, and no matter how much students pay for the safekeeping protocols the colleges have undertaken to provide.

As part of their constitution, the people of California declare that students and staff at all educational institutions “have the right to be safe and secure in their persons.”<sup>4</sup> The University of California Campus Security Task Force of 2008 agrees. The “University should do everything feasible to create

---

<sup>1</sup> <http://www.calstate.edu/> (460K);  
<http://www.cccco.edu/> (2.1M);  
<http://universityofcalifornia.edu/uc-system> (245K) [as of 11/11/15].

<sup>2</sup> <http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06000.html> [as of 11/11/15].

<sup>3</sup> Slip opinion [Opn.] at 2.

<sup>4</sup> Article I, § 28.

safe and secure campuses.”<sup>5</sup> The majority disdains this public policy, characterizing the principle it declares as “settled.”<sup>6</sup>

Violence and campus safety have long been a major concern nationwide. In 1990, Congress enacted The Clery Act,<sup>7</sup> championed by the parents of Jeanne Clery who was raped and murdered at Lehigh University in 1986. The Act requires colleges to report annually about criminal offenses occurring on campus. In 2013, California public colleges and universities reported over 500 aggravated assaults, robberies and forcible sex offenses in campus buildings and grounds, exclusive of housing.<sup>8</sup> UCLA alone accounted for 43 of these incidents.<sup>9</sup>

A nationwide wake-up call came with the mass shootings at Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in 2007. Congress amended the Clery Act requiring colleges to create campus emergency response plans.<sup>10</sup> Colleges and universities across the country, including the University of California, sought

---

<sup>5</sup> 7EX1825. *x EX y* = Exhibits volume *x*, page *y*.

<sup>6</sup> Opn. 18.

<sup>7</sup> 20 U.S.C. §1092, subd. (f).

<sup>8</sup> Data collected from U.S. Dept. of Educ., <http://ope.ed.gov/security>[as of 11/11/15].

<sup>9</sup> *Ibid.*

<sup>10</sup> Pub. Law 110-315 (2008).

to enhance their threat assessment and intervention procedures.<sup>11</sup> UCLA “developed sophisticated, interdisciplinary, threat assessment and violence prevention protocols.”<sup>12</sup>

Against this backdrop, the Court of Appeal’s majority has excused the University and other public institutions of higher education [IHE] from any obligation to exercise care in creating safe campuses. Presiding Justice Perluss thinks otherwise. “I would recognize an affirmative duty on the part of UCLA and its instructional and administrative personnel to take reasonable steps to keep their classrooms safe from foreseeable threats of violence.”<sup>13</sup>

No case has ever held that IHEs “never owe a duty of care to their adult students.”<sup>14</sup> The most recent of the cases on which the majority relies is over fifteen-years-old and involved fighting between intramural contestants on the athletic field. While this Court has acknowledged that “a body of law establishes that public schools and universities owe certain nonproperty-based

---

<sup>11</sup> E. Deisenger, et al., *The Handbook for Campus Threat Assessment & Management Teams* (Applied Risk Management 2008) at 4. (7EX1912) Deisenger is UCLA’s expert.

<sup>12</sup> Dissenting opinion [Dis.] at 11-12.

<sup>13</sup> Dis. at 11.

<sup>14</sup> *Patterson v. Sacramento Unified Sch. Dist.* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 821, 832.

duties to their students,”<sup>15</sup> the Court has never addressed the question of what duties IHEs have for student safety in the classroom. Surely, a duty that “extends to athletic practice and play”<sup>16</sup> exists in the classroom where the university discharges its core function of educating students.

Katherine Rosen, a foreseeable victim of classroom violence at the hands of her fellow, knife-wielding classmate, Damon Thompson agrees with Justice Perluss. The majority has consigned her to bear the entire burden of the collective failure of the UCLA personnel “to meet national standards or to follow UCLA’s own rules” in response to the “serious threat of physical violence to all persons Thompson believed were insulting him.”<sup>17</sup> The more than 5,000 students, parents and threat-assessment professionals who supported Rosen below agree.<sup>18</sup> They urge this Court to review this case and give voice to the public policy of school safety so clearly expressed by the people of California. Unless it does so, every public college student will have to assume the risk of classroom violence as part of the price of a public college education.

---

<sup>15</sup> *Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist.* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 148, 158.

<sup>16</sup> *Ibid.*

<sup>17</sup> Dis. at 20.

<sup>18</sup> Amicus brief filed by the Consumer Attorneys of California at pp. 2-4.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

The function of the university is to impart learning and advance the boundaries of knowledge. This carries with it the administrative responsibility to control and regulate conduct and behavior of the students which tend to impede, obstruct, or threaten the achievements of its educational goals.<sup>19</sup>

### I. Statement of Facts

*a. Katherine Rose matriculates to UCLA in 2007 and learns of UCLA's policies of providing a safe environment. The Dean of Students tells her she is "accountable" for these policies.*

Katherine Rosen entered UCLA as a freshman for the Fall 2007 term and from the beginning she was made aware of UCLA's commitment to physical and emotional safety for its students. (1EX64-65.) She and her parents were told "Welcome to one of the most secure campuses in the country." (8EX2099.)

---

<sup>19</sup> *Andersen v. Regents of the University of California* (1972) 22 Cal.App.3d 763, 770.

UCLA mandated a stern Workplace Violence Prevention and Response Policy since the late 1990s. (3EX641.<sup>20</sup>)

That fall, an email from the Dean of Students, defendant Robert Naples, told Rosen, along with the rest of the student body, that she was “accountable” to know the Student Conduct Code and other UCLA Policies. (2EX455.) Naples stated his office was involved in a number of activities including “serving an administrative support source for students in distress or crisis and by working closely with the UCLA community in holding students accountable for their actions, and holding them to the highest standards of academic and personal integrity.” (2EX455.)

The Student Code of Conduct authorized the Dean of Students to exclude students from the campus who exhibited disruptive, paranoid, aggressive, and threatening behavior. (6EX1436-1439.) The UCLA polices included its threat assessment procedures and systems in place in the form of its “Violence Prevention & Response Team,” a multi-disciplinary group tasked with defusing foreseeable threats of violence. (3EX641-642.) Its component members, the Dean of Students, Office of Residential Life and Campus Counseling & Psychological Services [CAPS] were charged with forwarding and coordinating threats and concerns about violence. These services

---

<sup>20</sup> The policy is imbedded in the electronic version of the document. (<http://docs.chr.ucla.edu/chr/tabs/policy.html>.)

were paid for, at least in part, by the students themselves in the form of mandatory, university-wide registration fees, increased specifically for the purpose of increasing “prevention and intervention” of workplace violence. (7EX1817, 1824 .) “UCLA is committed to providing a safe work environment for all faculty, staff and students—one that is free from violence and threats of harm.” (3EX641.)

*b. Damon Thompson transfers to UCLA from Belize in fall 2008 and displays escalating paranoia that would lead to his attack on Katherine Rosen a year later.*

Damon Thompson transferred to UCLA in the fall of 2008. (2EX475.) Shortly after enrolling in classes, Thompson sent several emails to his history professor, Stephen Frank, reporting that he was “angered” by “offensive” remarks other students had made to him during an examination. (2EX482-483.) He warned as early as January 2009, that unless staff admonished his tormentors, “I’ll end up acting in a manner that will incur undesirable consequences on me.” (6EX 1448.) Thompson’s condition deteriorated over time as he was in and out of psychological treatment and involved in hostilities that resulted in his being excluded from university housing and ordered to anger management and psychological counseling.<sup>21</sup>

---

<sup>21</sup> E.g., January 2009: Should Dean Robert Naples fail to “deter further offenses,” “this will escalate into a more serious  
(continued...)

*c. Thompson confronts the chemistry lab teaching assistant. He names Rosen as one of his tormentors. But UCLA's tardy efforts to intervene fail to prevent him from stabbing and slashing Rosen in the lab.*

The person charged with supervision and classroom safety the day of the attack, Teaching Assistant Adam Goetz, was himself confronted by Thompson just days before - an incident Rosen thought was "super scary." (6EX1580.) Goetz reported to his supervisors that Thompson was demanding that the fellow students who were ridiculing him be dealt with or Thompson

---

<sup>21</sup>(...continued)

situation and I'll end up acting in a manner that will incur undesirable consequences for me." (6EX1448.)

February 2009: Feeling "threatened" by Ouija board in the dorm. (2EX576.) "Thought about" hurting someone. (6EX1463.)

March 2009: Acknowledged acting "confrontational" with roommate. (6EX1471-1472.) "Admits to feeling angry when he is harassed by others" and admits "prior or current concerns about physically harming or killing someone." (6EX1493, 1496-1497.)

April 2009: Returned an insult to a woman who insulted his maturity. (3EX804.)

June 2009: Third dormitory incident during which Thompson assaults a residence hall neighbor; charged and accepted responsibility for Threatening and Disruptive behavior, and is permanently excluded from UCLA Housing for "Physical Assault." (3 EX 836, 6 EX 1523-1524.)

July 2009: "instead of deterring such behavior, people in authority have. . . encouraged it. . . ." (6EX1532-1534.)



would do so. (6EX1547,1552.) He reported that Thompson had identified Rosen as one of his tormentors. (6EX1674.) Goetz, himself untrained and unprepared to deal with Thompson, asked for help.(6EX1584.) But he did not get any. The CRT members, who learned of Goetz's request, never met together and never brought in the Violence Prevention and Response Team. They made no attempt to respond to Goetz.

Based on their "urgent" check of university housing just the day before the incident, CRT members Karen Minero and Robert Naples learned for the first time that Thompson had been excluded from university housing for a prior physical assault months earlier. (6EX1591-1592.) Despite recognizing this "history of violence" (6EX1595), they made no effort to contact Thompson or look for him in class where he had exhibited his threatening behavior until it was too late.

Rosen almost died. (4EX988.) Thompson was charged with attempted murder and found not guilty by reason of insanity. (Pen. Code, § 1026, 4EX1026.) He was committed to Patton State Hospital in December 2010. (4EX1026.)

## **II. Statement of the case.**

*a. Rosen sues the Regents and several of the UCLA employees.*

Rosen brought suit against the Regents and named several individual UCLA employees. Rosen relied on the direct liability of the employee defendants and the vicarious liability of the Regents which arises when Government Code sections 820 and 815.2 are read in combination. Section 820 holds a public employee liable for an injury caused by his or her act or omission “to the same extent as a private person.” Under section 815.2, when the act or omission of the public employee occurs in the scope of employment, the public entity will be vicariously liable for the injury. Rosen alleged that by inviting her on the campus and having enrolled her as a student in exchange for tuition, a special relationship arose between her, the Regents, the individual defendants and the other agents of the University creating a duty –

to take reasonable protective measures to ensure her safety against violent attacks and otherwise protect her from reasonably foreseeable criminal conduct, to warn her as to such reasonably foreseeable criminal conduct on its campus and its buildings, and/or to control the reasonably foreseeable wrongful acts of third persons/other students.

(5EX1218-1219 [Second Amended Complaint].)

Rosen asserts the negligence of both the named defendants and those other UCLA employees whose negligence was a substantial factor in causing her harm. The Regents could still be liable even if all the named individuals were exonerated. (*Perez v. City of Huntington Beach* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 817, 820.)

The UCLA employees stood in a special relationship to her and to Thompson that gave rise to a duty to protect her from and warn her of his foreseeable violent conduct. The employees also embarked on a substantial undertaking to protect and warn the entire UCLA community from threats of violence such as Thompson posed.

*b. UCLA moves for summary judgment but the trial court denies the motion.*

In 2014, UCLA moved for summary judgment and Rosen opposed it. The trial court denied the motion for summary judgment, concluding that UCLA “had a duty to warn [Rosen] and/or take reasonable steps to prevent the threat [Thompson] posed to [her].” The court listed three sources of law that imposed a duty on UCLA to protect Rosen from foreseeable third party misconduct. First, the court found that a “special relationship existed” between the parties based on Rosen’s “status as a student.” Second, the court found Rosen qualified as a “business invitee,” explaining that landowners must generally “protect . . . [their] invitee[s] from foreseeable third party criminal acts.” Third, the court concluded UCLA “may have voluntarily assumed the duty” to protect Rosen by “overseeing [Thompson’s] psychological treatment” and attempting to “accommodate his disability.” (10EX2667-2670.)

The court also found that the parties' conflicting expert declarations raised triable issues of fact whether UCLA had "breached its duty when it failed to inform [Rosen] that Thompson had identified her as a target of his anger and/or failed to place her into a different lab." The court also ruled that "the immunity statutes do not apply here." (*Ibid.*)

*c. UCLA seeks appellate review and a divided court reverses. Rosen petitions for rehearing.*

UCLA filed a petition for writ of mandate seeking an order "directing respondent superior court to enter summary judgment" in its favor. On October 22, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause and a call for amicus briefs stating that the petition "potentially presents issues of broad statewide importance."

On October 7, 2015, Justice Laurie Zelon, writing for herself and Los Angeles County Superior Court Judge Mary Strobel sitting pro-tem, filed an opinion granting UCLA's petition. Relying on decades-old cases involving campus drinking and intramural sports, the majority declared "a public university has no general duty to protect its students from criminal acts of other students." (Opn. 2.)

Presiding Justice Dennis Perluss thought otherwise. Noting the University's own aspirations to "do everything feasible to

create safe and secure campuses,” he would find “a special relationship exists between a college and its enrolled students, at least when the student is in a classroom under direct supervision of an instructor, and the school has a duty to take reasonable steps to keep its classrooms safe from foreseeable threats of violence.” (Dis. 2.)

Rosen filed a timely petition for rehearing on October 21 in which she pointed out errors in the majority’s factual summary and in its analysis. (Cal. Rules of Court [Rule], rules 8.268, 8.490.) The court denied the petition without comment. The Court of Appeal’s judgment became final on November 6 and this petition filed within ten days thereafter is timely. (Rule 8.500.)

## ARGUMENT

*Public college students must now accept the risk of classroom violence as the price of their education.*

### **I. Questions of duty are not amenable to broad, inflexible rules yet the majority has crafted one.**

“As a general rule, each person has a duty to use ordinary care and is liable for injuries caused by his failure to exercise reasonable care in the circumstances. Whether a given case falls within an exception to this general rule or whether a duty of care exists in a given circumstance, is a question of law to be

determined on a case-by-case basis.” (*Parsons v. Crown Disposal Co.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 456, 472 [internal citations and punctuation omitted].)

Instead of applying this principle, the majority created a rule admitting no exceptions. “[A] public university has no general duty to protect students from the criminal acts of other students.” (Opn. 2.) As it stands, every superior court judge must say “no” when faced with making a duty determination in a case where injured public colleges students claim their college had an obligation to warn of and protect from foreseeable, fellow-student violence. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 [“all tribunals exercising inferior jurisdiction are required to follow decisions of courts exercising superior jurisdiction”].) The mere breath of such a rule, affecting almost three million students and their families, requires this Court’s intervention, if only because such a rule should come from the state’s highest court.

**II. California public policy demands that college classrooms be safe. This Court must apply that policy to public colleges and universities.**

“[T]he fundamental public policies of the state and nation [are] expressed in their constitutions and statutes.” (*Stevenson v. Superior Court* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 880, 889.) The People of California have, by constitution, established the paramount policy

that applies here. “[T]he People find and declare that the right to public safety extends to . . . University of California. . . campuses, where students and staff have the right to be safe and secure in their persons.” (Art. 1, § 28, subd. (a)(7).) “All students and staff of public primary, elementary, junior high, and senior high schools, and community colleges, colleges, and universities have the inalienable right to attend campuses which are safe, secure and peaceful.”(Art. 1, § 28, subd. (f).)

The Court has recognized this policy supports a finding of duty in the K-12 context even though the provision has been held to be non-self executing. (*C.A. v. William S. Hart High School Dist.* (2010) 53 Cal.4th 861, 879 fn. 3.) Justice Perluss recognized it as such. (Dis. 9.)

Rosen does not contend that UCLA’s violation of her constitutional rights gives rise, in and of itself, to a duty or a cause of action for damages. The majority rejected her reliance on the Constitution on the basis that the provisions of Article I, section 28 are not self-executing. (Opn. 21, fn. 6.) But the provision unquestionably establishes public policy. Article I, section 28 is a victims-rights provision. (Subd. (a).) Common-law and statutory policies cannot prevail over its provisions. (See *Green v. Raley Engineering Co.* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 66, 71 [“*aside from constitutional policy*, the Legislature, and not the courts, is vested with the responsibility to declare the public policy of the state”] [emphasis added].)

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