No. S230568

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, a public entity; ALFRED BACHER; CARY PORTER; ROBERT NAPLES; and NICOLE GREEN, public employees,

Defendants and Petitioners,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

KATHERINE ROSEN, an individual,

Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest.

2d Civil No. B259424 (Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 7)

(Los Angeles Superior Court, West District, Case No. SC108504, Hon. Gerald Rosenberg, Judge)

SUFFICIENT COURT

DEC 03 2015

Frank & Wobsire Olerk
Dopaty

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARANGA • MORGENSTERN

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE

THERE IS NO CONFLICT IN THE CASE LAW AND

NO IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW THAT

REQUIRES RESOLUTION.

According to Rosen, the Court of Appeal majority crafted a broad, inflexible rule that is anathema to duty analysis. (Petition 21-22.) That just isn't so. Rather, what the majority opinion demonstrated is that proper resolution of this case called for a straightforward application of established law to the facts.

The Petition for Review makes little mention of most of the majority's analysis. In holding that Rosen's claims are barred as a matter of law because the UCLA defendants owed no duty of care to protect Rosen from, or warn her against, Thompson under the given circumstances, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>(...continued) was properly ordered as to Dr. Green"] 21 ["I would deny the petition except as to Dr. Green"].) The Petition for Review appears not to challenge the Court of Appeal's unanimous conclusion in favor of Dr. Green.

The Petition for Review tellingly ignores several key decisions in the majority's analysis, including Zelig v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 27 Cal.4th 1112; Williams v. State of California (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18; Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill (2005) 36 Cal.4th 224; and Kashmiri v. Regents of University of California (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 809.

majority explained in detail why California law does not support any of the grounds put forward by the superior court, the dissent, or Rosen for their conclusion that a special relationship existed, or should be found to have existed, between Rosen and the UCLA defendants, giving rise to a duty of care. (Slip opn. 14-34.)

As the dissent acknowledged (Dis. opn. 4), as a general matter, "there is no duty to come to the aid of another (Williams v. State of California (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18, 23), to protect others from criminal conduct of third parties (Delgado [v. Trax Bar & Grill (2005) 36 Cal.4th 224,] 235) or to warn those endangered by such conduct (Zelig v. County of Los Angeles (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112, 1129.)" All three members of the panel agreed that in order for the UCLA defendants to have owed Rosen a duty of care under the facts, the duty had to be founded on the existence of a special relationship. (Slip opn. 14-15; Dis. opn. 4.) But, as the majority showed, no such relationship can be established under existing law.

# A. There Is No Duty To Supervise Or Protect Students At The College/University Level.

Although courts have held that the responsibility of supervision gives rise to a special relationship and duty of care in the K-12 context (e.g., C.A. v. William S. Hart Union High School Dist. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 861, 870-871), "[o]ur courts have consistently held, however, that an adult student's affiliation with a college or university does not give rise to a similar duty." (Slip opn. 16.) After surveying the K-12 duty landscape, and clearly having well in mind both the material distinctions between

supervision of schoolchildren and the present facts, the majority concluded, "We find no basis to depart from the settled 'rule that institutions of higher education have no duty to their adult students to protect them against the criminal acts of third persons." (Slip opn. 18, quoting *Ochoa v. California State University*, *supra*, 72 Cal.App.4th at p. 1306.) The majority did what appellate courts do—it applied settled law to the facts of the case.

# B. There Is No Connection Between Rosen's Injury And Any Classroom Instruction.

Similarly, the majority examined and found inapplicable the exception to the general no-duty rule that has developed in cases involving injuries sustained or crimes committed within the confines of college athletics programs or pedagogy, such as Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist., supra, 38 Cal.4th 148 (intentional injury inflicted during an intercollegiate baseball game) and Patterson v. Sacramento City Unified School Dist. (2007) 155 Cal. App. 4th 821 (injury sustained while performing activity that was part of the curriculum in an adult truck driver training course). As the majority recognized, the injury here had nothing whatsoever to do with the curriculum or with the physical condition of the chemistry lab. As the majority noted, "While *Patterson* suggests colleges and universities owe a duty to ensure their adult students do not injure themselves while performing class-related tasks, the case has no relevance to the question presented here: whether an adult student shares a special relationship with his or her school that gives rise to a duty to protect from

third party misconduct." (Slip opn. 21.) Again, an application of settled law to given facts.

C. Rosen Laid No Foundation For Business Invitee Liability,
And That Theory Is Unavailable To Her Anyway.

The majority likewise applied settled law in rejecting the contention that the UCLA defendants owed a duty to protect Rosen from Thompson's criminal conduct on based on asserted status as a business invitee onto campus property. (Slip opn. 21-23.) Under this Court's decision in *Zelig v*. *County of Los Angeles, supra*, 27 Cal.4th 1112, "a public college or university may not be held liable as a property owner for injuries caused by third party criminal conduct that is unrelated to any physical condition of the property[, and] Rosen concedes that she does not allege any physical condition on the property contributed to Thompson's actions or to her injuries." (Slip opn. 23.) Rather, "Rosen is asserting only that UCLA had a duty to protect her from foreseeable criminal conduct based solely on its status as the 'possessor of land' on which the crime occurred" and "Government Code section 835 precludes that claim." (Slip opn. 23, footnote omitted.)

D. There Is No Evidence Supporting Rosen's Theory That

The UCLA Defendants Owed A Duty Of Care Under The

Negligent Undertaking Doctrine.

Rosen asserted that "UCLA owed a duty to protect her from Thompson's criminal acts under the 'negligent undertaking doctrine,' which has been characterized as an 'exception to the no-duty-to-protect rule.'"

(Slip opn. 24, quoting *Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 235, fn. 13.) But the majority observed that Rosen's claim failed "[e]ven assuming [she] could establish that UCLA did undertake to protect its students from potentially violent students and that it performed this task in a negligent matter" because "[t]o prevail under the negligent undertaking doctrine," she had to "additionally prove" either "(1) that UCLA's actions increased her risk of physical harm, or (2) that she relied on UCLA's undertaking and suffered injury as a result." (Slip opn. 25, citing *Paz v. State of California* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 550, 560.)

Combing the record, the majority concluded that Rosen failed to produce evidence of either prerequisite, noting that she "has provided no evidence that UCLA's actions increased the risk of harm that Thompson posed to her beyond that which existed before the school had taken any action to address his mental condition" and "also failed to provide any evidence that she was harmed because she detrimentally relied on UCLA's student safety measures." (Slip opn. 26.) As the majority explained, yet again applying well-settled law, "UCLA's alleged failure to neutralize the risk that Thompson posed to her is not sufficient to demonstrate an 'increased risk of harm' (Slip opn. 26) and "Rosen cites no evidence that she personally relied on [UCLA's] assurances or that her reliance resulted in her injuries" (Slip opn. 27). "Indeed," the majority observed, "Rosen has failed to cite any evidence that she was even aware of such policies at any time prior to Thompson's attack." (Slip opn. 27.)

E. There Is No Evidence Raising Triable Issues Under The "Implied-In-Fact Contract" Or "Workplace Violence"

Theories That Rosen Raised For The First Time In The Court Of Appeal.

Finally, the majority deftly rejected two theories that Rosen newly minted in her appellate papers—that her matriculation at UCLA created an implied-in-fact contract creating a duty to protect her from foreseeable criminal conduct, and that UCLA owed a duty to protect her based on labor statutes that require employers to address threats of violence in the workplace. (Slip opn. 30-34.) The majority noted that the contract theory, if accepted, "would effectively impose a duty on every college and university to protect their students against third party misconduct" and, as explained earlier in the majority opinion, "our courts have rejected such a rule." (Slip opn. 32-33.) The majority concluded further, again applying existing law, that general declarations or promises in UCLA's safety brochures did not amount to any "specific promise' that the university would undertake a legal duty to protect its students from third party misconduct." (Slip opn. 33, citing Kashmiri v. Regents of University of California, supra, 156 Cal.App.4th at pp. 825, 829, 832.) As to the workplace theory, the majority observed that Rosen had "produced no evidence she was an employee of UCLA, nor has she provided any

authority that the workplace statutes she cites extend to college students who are not otherwise employed by their school." (Slip opn. 34.)<sup>5/</sup>

This case, like most tort cases, presents unfortunate facts, but that is all. There is no conflict in the governing law and there is no unresolved issue of widespread importance calling for this Court's intervention. The Petition should be denied for these reasons. And, as we next address, there is no merit to Rosen's campaign to have the Court use the case as a vehicle for a revolution in higher-education duty analysis.

II. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE SUBSTANTIAL REWORKING OF CALIFORNIA LAW THAT ROSEN ADVOCATES IS UNWARRANTED AND WOULD CAUSE MATERIAL HARM TO HIGHER EDUCATION IN CALIFORNIA.

Waving the banner of Justice Perluss's dissent, Rosen's petition asks whether California public institutions of higher education—the University of California, the California State University, and the California Community Colleges—and their employees have, or should be found to have, "duty of care to their students while in the classroom to warn of and

The employment argument, if successful, would have implications far beyond supplying a basis for finding a legal duty of care. For example, if students were somehow to be considered to be employees, questions would then arise as to the application of workers compensation, and the extent to which it might preclude liability, and in what contexts. And beyond that, there is the specter of colleges and universities being exposed to vicarious liability for students' (read "employees") acts in their capacities as students, yet without the control that an employer exercises over traditional employees.

protect from foreseeable acts of violence by fellow students." (Petition 8.) For multiple factual, legal, and public policy reasons, the answer is no.

A. Promoting Public Safety Is A Laudable Public Policy And
Is Backed By A Constitutional Provision, But The
Constitutional Policy Is Not Enforceable Absent
Legislative Action.

As the majority, the dissent, and Rosen all note, the California Constitution declares a right to safe schools, including college and university campuses. (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 28, subds. (a)(7), (f)(1); Slip opn. 21, fn. 6; Dis. opn. 9 & fn. 4; Petition 23.) No one disputes that promoting campus safety is good policy. In fact, UCLA, like campuses all over America in recent years, has taken steps to promote and enhance safety, as Rosen has acknowledged. (Petition 14, 24-26, 30-32.) Rosen complains that UCLA's efforts fell short.

However, as the majority makes clear, and the dissent and Rosen tersely acknowledge (Petition 23; Dis. opn. 9, fn. 4), the courts have consistently held that the constitutional provisions do not create a right of action—they "do not 'impose an express affirmative duty on any [public] agency to guarantee the safety of schools." (Slip opn. 21, fn. 6, quoting Clausing v. San Francisco Unified School Dist. (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1224, 1238-1239.)

Rather, the constitutional provisions are policy statements. "A public policy statement ""merely indicates principles, without laying down rules by means of which those principles may be given the force of

law.""" (Bautista v. State of California (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 716, 727.)

To make the rights proclaimed in the "safe schools" policy statement judicially enforceable, as the majority noted, would require legislative action. (Slip opn. 21, fn. 6, quoting Bautista v. State of California, supra, 201 Cal.App.4th at p. 729 ["the right to safe schools (set forth in the California Constitution) . . . require(s) legislative action to make the constitutional provision operative as a judicially enforceable right"].)

Rosen seeks to enforce a judicially unenforceable right. She is in the wrong forum. Since this Court does not legislate, Rosen's petition should be denied.

B. Even If The Court Could Extend Liability For Failure To
Provide University Classroom Safety, The Evidence Here
Is Patently Inadequate To Entitle Rosen To The Relief She
Seeks.

According to the Petition, Rosen wants this Court to find that

California public institutions of higher education owe their students "a duty
of care . . . while in the classroom to warn of and protect from foreseeable
acts of violence by fellow students." (Petition 8.) Assuming the Court is a
proper forum, and even if the Court were inclined in the abstract to consider
finding such a duty, this case does not provide a factual predicate for
granting relief. The record shows, as the majority recognized, that Damon
Thompson's physical attack on Rosen was not foreseeable.

No doubt, Thompson was mentally ill. No doubt, he was verbally disruptive, including in the classroom. But there is no evidence he ever

articulated a threat of physical violence against any reasonably identifiable person or group. (See Slip opn. 3-8; see, e.g., *Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425; Civ. Code, § 43.92.) He complained that various students belittled him, at least once naming Rosen among them, but that's all. The knife attack was unforeseeable. So Rosen could not be entitled to recovery under the standard she asks this Court to adopt.

That Rosen is sensitive to this shortcoming in her case is evident in the way she sensationalizes the record. She tells a lurid tale. (Petition 13-17.) She highlights a Facebook message to her boyfriend in which she recounted Thompson's weird classroom behavior, including that she found his actions toward the Chemistry lab TA "super scary." (Petition 16; see 6 Exhibits 1580.) Newly minted for this proceeding, she concocts a theory that Thompson's "pre-attack history reflects his psychosis was gender-based and that he viewed women as his tormentors[,]" implying that the UCLA defendants left her vulnerable by failing to pick up on this. (Petition 34.)

But nowhere does Rosen identify evidence that Thompson articulated a credible threat of violence against her, or anyone. Why not? Because there is no such evidence.

Since Thompson never articulated any threat of violence against Rosen, the UCLA defendants could not have protected her from the attack. And since Rosen (and everyone else in class) knew Thompson was weird, or mentally impaired, and Rosen found his behavior "super scary," what,

exactly, were the UCLA defendants supposed to tell her in warning that she did not already know?

This case does not present a compelling vehicle for the revolutionary reworking of duty law that Rosen urges the Court to undertake. Again, the petition should be denied.

C. The Result For Which Rosen Argues Would Entail
Needlessly Undoing Substantial Well-Settled California
Jurisprudence.

The extension of special relationship law, and concomitantly of the boundaries of tort duty, for which Rosen argues would not be a small change. It would be a major overhaul in tort liability.

It would be a substantial inroad on the general principles that there is no duty to come to the aid of another or to protect others from criminal conduct. (E.g., Williams v. State of California, supra, 34 Cal.3d at p. 23; Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 235.) It would mean treating adult college students like schoolchildren when, as discussed in Section I, ante, the law up to now has been well-settled that a public university has no general duty to protect its students from the criminal acts of other students. (See Slip opn. 2.) It would eviscerate Zelig v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 27 Cal.4th 1112, undermining its holding that a public entity cannot be liable for its business invitees absent a dangerous physical condition of public property.

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